
30 November 2018

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Monday, 10 December 2018
beginning at

7:00 pm
in the

Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Carol Boulton
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Richard Gomer
Councillor Keith House Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor Rupert Kyrle Councillor Derek Pretty
Councillor Bruce Tennent Councillor Adrian Trace

Staff Contacts: Cheryll Kemsley, Democratic Services Specialist
Tel: 023 8068 8112; Email: Cheryll.kemsley@eastleigh.gov.uk

Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437; 
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and 
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Public Participation    

2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 6) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2018. 

3. Apologies    

4. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

5. Chair's Report    

6. Ageas Bowl Review 2018    (Pages 7 - 12)

7. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

8. Planning Application - Land Adjacent to Russell's Equestrian Centre (including Lot 
C, Itchen Valley Country Park), West End, Southampton    (Pages 13 - 32) 

Erection of 1.no courtyard building and 1.no isolation block accommodating 20 
stables; 1.no double unit mobile home for on-site manager's accommodation, 1.no 
outdoor arena with lighting and hard standing providing 7no. on site vehicular 
parking spaces and utilising existing access from Allington Lane (Ref: F/18/84121). 

9. Planning Appeals     

The Legal Services Manager to report:-

(a) that the following appeal has been lodged:-

Appeal against the Councils refusal of planning permission for a single 
storey side extension to include a new front porch attached to the side 
extension at 25 Rose Close, Hedge End (Ref: H/18/83321).

This was a delegated decision

(b) that the following appeal has been withdrawn:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of outline planning permission for 
mixed use redevelopment scheme within use classes A1(shops), 
A2(financial and professional services), A3 (restaurant/cafe), A4 (drinking 
establishment), A5 (hot food takeaway), C3 (residential apartments up to 77 
units) and D1 (non-residential institution), within two separate blocks, 
together with access, car parking, landscaping and associated works (all 
matters reserved) at former Budgens Store, 1 Upper Northam Road, Hedge 
End (Ref: O/17/80927).

This was a Local Area Committee Decision



(c) that the following appeals have been dismissed:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the erection 
of a detached one bedroom dwelling on land to the rear of 10 Romill Close 
with associated access and parking (re-submission of C/17/80065) at 10 
Romill Close, West End (Ref: F/18/82388)

This was a delegated decision.

Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant a certificate of lawful use or 
development of a 2m high fence at 16 Ullswater Avenue, West End, (Ref: 
LDC/17/80861).

This was a delegated decision.
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 28 January 2019 at 7:00 pm

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Monday, 5 November 2018  (7:00 pm – 7:20 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, Boulton, Corben, 
Gomer, Jurd, Kyrle, Pretty and Trace

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors House and Tennent

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

34. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Mr Edward Whyte thanked the Committee for refusing the planning 
application for 77 residential units on the old ‘Budgens’ site, Upper 
Northam Road and for re-opening the car park to the public.

The Chair gave thanks for the positive feedback.

35. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2018 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

36. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.

37. CHAIR'S REPORT

The Chair reported the following:

Former “Budgens” site, Upper Northam Road

The Borough Council had stepped in to acquire the old “Budgens” site on 
Upper Northam Road in Hedge End. This Committee had refused planning 
permission for the mixed use site with up to 77 residential units and a 
public inquiry was due to be held in November 2018. As a result of the 
Council’s acquisition, the inquiry would not be going ahead and a second 
planning application had also been withdrawn.

1

Agenda Item 2



2

The car park had been reopened to the public. It was free to use and open 
seven days a week from 7.30am to 6pm. It was also a Park and Stride car 
park for Shamblehurst Primary School and Wildern School. 

Borough Council staff were now considering the short term and long term 
uses of the site. This would take some time in order to ensure that local 
needs were met.

Hedge End and Youth Community Association (HEYCA)

The old school building known locally as HEYCA, had been undergoing a 
refurbishment. Initially repairs to the roof would be undertaken followed by 
drainage improvements. The funding for these repairs was approved by 
this Committee and the owners of the building, Hedge End Town Council, 
were also contributing to this project.

Itchen Valley Country Park

The Chair was pleased to report that there had been a record number of 
attendances during the recent half term school holidays at Itchen Valley 
Country Park. The new Café at Highwood Barn was exceptionally busy 
and takings were up 110% compared to last year. The new indoor play 
area proved very popular with the younger visitors and the Halloween trails 
were also enjoyed by hundreds of children and parents.

Our partners, Go Ape and Youth Options had also registered impressive 
attendance figures. In particular, Go Ape recorded a fall in numbers 
nationally whereas attendances for both the Treetop Adventure and Junior 
courses at Itchen Valley Country Park showed positive increases. 

On behalf of this Local Area Committee, the Chair expressed her gratitude 
to all of the staff who worked so hard to provide a first class service at the 
country park despite some operational challenges. A review of these 
challenges was being undertaken and Members looked forward to seeing 
further improvements within the Park during the winter/spring when it 
would be traditionally quieter.  
   
Planning Consultation for the Woodhouse Lane site 

Following the conclusion of the public consultation on the planning 
application for the Woodhouse Lane site, including Deer Park School, in 
early September 2018, some amendments were now being made to the 
associated highways proposals in response to the comments received. 
These would be subject to a further consultation period and the application 
was now expected to be determined by this Committee early 2019. 

38. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT

The Assistant Local Area Manager reported the following:

2



3

Park Sport 2018

The Park Sport scheme lost its main sponsor this year. This had led to a 
slight reduction in the number of activities across the Borough. In Hedge 
End, West End and Botley (HEWEB), attendances remained stable with a 
slight rise in numbers at the Friday Night Football sessions at Botley. The 
free swimming sessions and the Skate Jam at Woodhouse Lane also 
attracted high numbers with 213 and 100 attendees respectively.   

Public Art Schemes

A public consultation event was held on Saturday 20 October 2018 at the 
Peartree Inn, Boorley Green. Residents voted for public art themes based 
on nature and local history, in particular, and commented on how this 
should be distributed within the sites at Boorley Park and Boorley 
Gardens. The online consultation via Eastleigh Borough Council’s website 
would continue until 18 November 2018.

The Pavilions (Moorgreen) steering group had recently met to evaluate the 
submissions for this public art project. The Group agreed on a design and 
the successful artist would be invited to develop his ideas with members of 
the steering group.

Street Nameplates 

Members had recently agreed to a priority list of street nameplates in 
Hedge End, West End and Botley. The list incorporated requests from 
Members, reported damaged and missing signage, and updated 
nameplates with the new design and Eastleigh Borough Council logo. An 
order for these nameplates had recently been placed.
 
Forthcoming meetings

The Boorley Green Working Group would be meeting on Monday 12 
November 2018. Updates would be received from the developer 
concerning progress on the community centre and sports pavilion.

The specification for the Multi Use Games Area had recently been agreed 
with the Borough Council and Botley Parish Council.

The Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel would be held on Thursday 15 November 
2018. The meeting would consider a review of the cricket season including 
any complaints and compliments that had been received by Borough 
Council staff. Members of the public were invited to attend this meeting.

A HEWEB Team meeting was to be held on Monday 3 December and an 
additional Local Area Committee meeting had been arranged for Monday 
10 December 2018. 

3



4

The HEWEB Youth Partnership was to meet on Tuesday 4 December 
2018. Partners would be reporting on their activities and the HEWEB 
Youth Grants process would be discussed.

39. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager that 
recommended funding to support projects that would meet identified local 
needs.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the formal allocation of £100,000 plus interest for public 
art within Boorley Park be approved, as per the Section 106 
agreement schedule;

(2) That the stated Fees and Charges for Itchen Valley Country 
Park be approved to come into effect in January 2019; and 

(3) That an increase of 20p to the parking tariffs for Hedge End 
Train Station car park and Stroudley Way be approved to 
commence from 7 February 2019.

40. PLANNING APPLICATION - STRATEGIC PARK, COMINES WAY, 
HEDGE END

This item was withdrawn by the applicant prior to the meeting.

41. TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER - VARIOUS ROAD

Consideration was given to the report of the Environmental Lead Specialist 
following consultation on waiting restrictions proposed in Charterhouse 
Way, Swincombe Rise, Gatcombe Gardens, Freegrounds Avenue, Kings 
Copse Road, Mapleton Road, Sherbourne Way, junction with Freegrounds 
Avenue, and Beechwood Rise.

RESOLVED – 
 
(1) That the ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restrictions on Swincombe 

Rise, Freegrounds Avenue, Charterhouse Way, Kings Copse 
Road, Mapleton Gardens and Beechwood Rise be approved as 
they address the current safety issues whilst reducing the 
impact on residents’ parking; and 

(2) That the proposal to restrict Gatcombe Gardens be removed 
from this order.

(NOTE: A resident of Gatcombe Gardens spoke in support of 
recommendation 2.)

4



5

42. FOOTPATH DIVERSION - WOODHOUSE LANE

Consideration was given to the report of the Senior Specialist – 
Engineering that explained that a planning application had been submitted 
to the Council and was being dealt with under application O/18/83634. The 
land affected by the application was crossed by a public right of way. If 
permission were to be granted, a Public Footpath Diversion Order would 
be required to divert part of the footpath on an alternative alignment in 
order to allow the proposed development to be carried out. Authorisation 
was therefore sought to begin the process of making a Public Footpath 
Diversion Order.

RESOLVED – 

That the processing of an Order under Section 257 of the Town and 
country Planning Act 1990 for the diversion of Public Bridleway No 
6c be approved.

43. PLANNING APPEALS

The Legal Services Manager reported that the following appeals had been 
lodged:-
 

 Hillside, 140 Winchester Street, Botley - Appeal against the 
Council’s refusal of planning permission for Outline: Erection of 2no. 
detached three bed dwellings with associated double garages, car 
parking, amenity space and access off Winchester Road (access 
and layout only, all other matters to be reserved) (Ref: O/17/81515)
 
This was a delegated decision.
 

 146 Winchester Street, Botley – Appeal against the Council’s 
refusal of planning permission for the retention of mobile home, link 
unit and art studio. (Ref: F/18/82327)

This was a delegated decision.

5



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Monday, 10 December 2018 

AGEAS BOWL REVIEW 2018

Report of the Assistant Local Area Manager, in consultation with 
the Senior Engineering Specialist, Senior Environmental Health 

Specialist, and Customer Services Manager.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee 
consider the review of complaints, comments and recommendations for the Ageas 
Bowl during the 2018 season. 

Summary

This report reviews complaints and comments which have been received by departments 
within Eastleigh Borough Council for the 2018 season and refers to actions arising from 
the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel meeting on 16 November 2017.  The report draws 
comparison with the previous nine years and provides updates which should address 
current residential concerns. 

The majority of this report was presented at the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel on Thursday 15 
November 2018 and there is also an update on provision for councillors to note.

Statutory Powers

* Section 1 Localism Act 2011.

Strategic Implications 

1. The performance of the Ageas Bowl relates to the Enabling Healthier 
Lifestyles and Wellbeing for all sections of the population. The community 
outreach programme also helps with Tackling Deprivation as many of the 
children would not otherwise experience cricket coaching or spectating. The 
introduction of the scholarship by Choi Kwang Do is also beneficial in this 
respect. 

2. The Ageas Bowl offers employment for many local people ranging from 
stewarding to catering, sales and marketing, coaching, maintenance and the 

7

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

many professions required by a hotel. Secondary spend in the local 
community on match and event days is significant and supports jobs in the 
wider economy.

3. The Ageas Bowl also contributes towards the aim of being a Green Borough 
with successful traffic management plans which helps with Tackling 
Congestion and associated pollution. Future traffic plans also involve using the 
infrastructure within the site rather than additional external Park and Strides. 
The provision of an Excellent Environment for All is important for everyone 
who visits and works within the site and the surrounds. The Ageas Bowl works 
closely with the Council’s Direct Services to achieve this and the minimising of 
waste.

4. This report relates specifically to the Council’s community leadership role, 
protecting the amenity and wellbeing of residents and supporting a positive 
and constructive relationship between the Ageas Bowl and the local 
community.

Introduction

5. This report provides a summary of complaints and comments received by 
Borough Council staff in respect of cricket matches and large scale events 
held at the Ageas Bowl during the 2018 season.  It provides an overview of 
concerns and, where possible, makes practical recommendations which 
should address identified problems. 

6. This season the Ageas Bowl hosted one Test match and no concerts 
respectively. The T20 limited overs matches were played mainly in July and 
August.

Complaints and Comments Analysis

7. Complaints and comments received during the 2018 season are summarised 
below.  To enable comparison, a summary of statistics for the previous eight 
seasons are included in the following table.

8.

COMPLAINTS/COMMENTS 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Parking/Temporary Cones 5 2 2 9 4 13 5 17 17
Bus shuttles/traffic management 0 0 9 0 1 2 4 3 2
Noise/Concerts/Fireworks/Event 1 7 3 1 0 1 3 0 17
Anti - Social Behaviour/Policing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Customer/Audience complaints 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 0 0
Satisfaction/Compliments 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 8 6
Other (MP Enquiry) 0 0 0 0 3 2 1 1 1
TOTALS 7 9 17 11 8 18 15 29 43

   

8



Eastleigh Borough Council

Parking/Temporary Coning Plans

9. One complaint has been received about obstructive parking in Trent Way, 
which included vehicles parking on the pavement and it is reported that a 
manhole cover collapsed. As a result, It is suggested that this road is reviewed 
in the next Traffic Regulation Order (TRO).

10. Following on from the fireworks event on 2 November 2018 and other events 
earlier in the year, residents from The Pavilions have reported via email and 
social media about many on-going parking problems as a result of drop-offs, 
direct parking and pick-ups relating to the Ageas Bowl. Residents have listed 
noise pollution, trespassing, illegal parking, congestion, pollution and littering, 
road safety issues and anti-social behaviour as their concerns. Eastleigh 
Borough Council (EBC) are in correspondence with the developer to establish 
some long term solutions and would request support from residents to enable 
an agreement on any long term measures to be accepted by the developer. 
Please note at the time of writing this report, a meeting is being arranged 
between Barratts (Developer), and EBC

11. A complaint was received from a resident at Marlborough Gardens who 
reported excessive parking in the area as a result of the England v India Test 
match. It was confirmed at the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel on 15 November 
2018 that parking had been an issue in the roads around Hedge End train 
station. This will be considered when the Ageas Bowl management teams 
reviews the current coning plan. 

12. Access issues which resulted in a slight delay for bin collections at September 
Close were noted during the Test match, however the refuse lorry accessed 
other roads in the area that were coned, so it is suggested that September 
Close should be added to future coning plans.

13. Residents attending the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel requested regular patrols 
of roads which were coned. This includes the T20 matches as well as the 
internationals.

14. After the England cricket international, a resident reported what a great job 
EBC did in coning the roads around the Ageas and also noted that a team of 
attendants regularly patrolled the area. 

Bus Shuttles and Traffic Management

15. No complaints regarding this operational aspect have been received directly 
by Borough Council officers.

16. The Park and stride site off Botley Road which provides approximately 600 
spaces was used efficiently for the T20’s and the test match.  

17. Additional train services and bus shuttles were provided for the Test match.

9



Eastleigh Borough Council

18. The park and ride facility at the University of Southampton Sports Ground, 
Wide Lane which provides approximately 2000 spaces was used for the Test 
match.

19. There are plans to tarmac the haul road for use by cars only.

20. Work has now been completed for car park 2 which has been extended to 
provide 300 extra spaces. Works have also been carried out to car park 3 
which will provide 100 spaces for 2019. Car park 5 has now been resurfaced 
which allows it to be used in all weather conditions.

Noise

21. No complaints regarding this aspect have been received directly by Borough 
Council officers.

Concerts/Fireworks

22. There were no concerts this year, however, one complaint has been received 
regarding the fireworks display which took place on Saturday 2 November 
2018 and has been addressed under the parking issues for The Pavilions 
above (point 8).

Anti - Social Behaviour/Policing

23. We have received no complaints from the local police.

Customer Experience Scores

24. It is noted that during the India Test match, the Post Test Match Customer 
Feedback scores (MDEX) taken from 1195 attendees were recorded as the 
following;

 9.0 overall experience score for day four (highest ever recorded for 
international cricket)

 96% of attendees said they were likely or very likely to return

 As a comparison, for 2014 test match, the overall customer experience 
score was 8.1.

Community Programme 

25. Poseidon Boxing Club now have over 600 members and the Choi Kwang Do 
club have around 65 members. 

26. Hampshire Cricket in the Community is the umbrella trust and is focusing on 
physical, social and mental wellbeing and in terms of its fundraising, half has 
gone in sports development for local schools and more widely into Hampshire. 
They have been working with Wessex Heartbeat and Solent Mind and have 

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

the Healthy Heart Phase 4 and 5 class (at one class per week). A feasibility 
study is also under way for a proposed wellbeing centre.

27. The Ageas Bowl are very proudly hosting five out of the 48 matches for the 
Cricket World Cup 2019 (30 May to 14 July 2019). These matches are:- South 
Africa v India 5 June, South Africa v West Indies 10 June, England v West 
Indies 14 June, India v Afghanistan 22 June and Bangladesh v Afghanistan 24 
June. This is a fantastic event which will attract worldwide cricket fans into the 
Borough; a large number of these fans will be looking to use Southampton 
Parkway (based on the post code of tickets that have been sold). 

28. In the playing season Hampshire Cricket won the Royal London Cup (50 
overs) and retained their first class status in the Championship.

29. A Residents’ newsletter will be sent out by the Ageas Bowl’s management 
team as requested by the Parish Council.

30. At the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel, congratulations were offered to the Ageas 
Bowl for all their work in the community, the reduction in complaints again this 
year and for the effectiveness of the traffic management plan. 

Financial Implications

31.  There are no financial implications identified in this report.

Risk Assessment

32.  There are no identifiable risks associated with the recommendations made in 
this report.

Equality and Diversity Implications

33. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

34.  This report provides a review of the 2018 season in terms of issues that affect 
local residents largely around the staging of cricket matches and special 
events such as Fireworks night and concerts. The main community uses are 
also highlighted for councillors’ information.

11



Eastleigh Borough Council

Date: 27 November 2018
Contact Officer: Siobhan Strand, Assistant Local Area Manager
Tel No: 02380 688428
e-mail: siobhan.strand@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report 
or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the 
preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works or documents 
which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

12



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 10 
December 2018.

Application Number: F/18/84121
Case Officer: Clare Martin
Received Date: Wednesday 26 September 2018

Site Address: Land Adjacent to Russell’s Equestrian Centre (including Lot 
C, Itchen Valley Country Park), West End, Southampton

Applicant: Verity Tidmarsh

Proposal: Erection of 1.no courtyard building and 1.no isolation block 
accommodating 20 stables; 1.no double unit mobile home for 
on-site manager's accommodation, 1.no outdoor arena with 
lighting and  hard standing providing 7no. on site vehicular 
parking spaces and utilising existing access from Allington 
Lane.

Recommendation: PERMIT subject to:
i) No material objection being raised by the Ecology 

Officer or Hampshire County Council on plans for the 
visibility spays.

ii) Drainage survey to be updated to include details of 
water quality.

iii) No objection being raised by Natural England to the 
Habitat Regulation Assessment

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 4132-P-1revD, 4132-P-2revC, 4132-P-3revB, 
4132-P-4revB & 4132_P_5.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall accord with:
- Ecological Impact Assessment by ECOSA (dated Nov 2018)
- Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan by ECOSA (dated Nov 18)
- Lighting Assessment and Strategy by Designs for Lighting (dated Nov 18)
- Surface Water Drainage Technical Note by M3 Mayer Brown (dated Nov 18)
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

3 The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

4 No excavation, demolition or development related works shall take place on site 
until an arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan, as per British 
Standard 5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction 

13

Agenda Item 8



– Recommendations), are submitted and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The documents must detail final tree and vegetation removals, 
construction methods in the car parking area and tree protection fencing 
position and type. The approved documents must be adhered to in full, and may 
only be modified subject to written agreement from the LPA.
Reason: to retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of 
the amenity of the locality.

5 No excavation, demolition or development related works shall commence until 
evidence has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority that the tree protection measures have been installed, as per the 
approved tree protection plan. Once approved, no access by vehicles or 
placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials shall take place 
within the fenced area. Tree protection measures shall be retained in their 
approved form for the duration of the work. This condition may only be fully 
discharged upon completion of the proposed development.
Reason: to retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of 
the amenity of the locality.

6 No excavation, demolition or development related works shall start until a 
construction environmental management plan (CEMP) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This should include, 
but not be limited to, details including plans of temporary lighting (no light spill 
into surrounding habitats), noise control, dust suppression, wheel washing 
facilities, welfare huts, water quality preservation (controlled water and fuel run-
off), temporary protective fencing (to demarcate retained habitats without 
causing entrapment of wildlife), timing of works (specifically in relation to 
breeding bird season), storage of materials/chemicals/equipment and waste 
disposal. The development shall then accord with the approved details
Reason: To protect the amenity of the area and the biodiversity of the site and 
surrounding habitats during construction.

7 No development shall start until details of a sustainable drainage system and its 
management and maintenance details have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The system shall be implemented and 
thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage for the development.
 

8 Notwithstanding the approved plans, no above ground development shall start 
until details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the development hereby permitted have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the 
amenities of the area.
 

9 Notwithstanding the approved plans, no above ground development shall start 
until a revised landscaping scheme and a detailed planting plan have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
landscaping scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 

14



details, to the appropriate British Standard, not later than the end of the first 
planting season following completion of the approved development. The 
landscaping shall thereafter be retained. Reason: In the interests of the visual 
amenity of the locality.
 

10 For a period of no less than 5 years after planting, any trees or plants which are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as 
soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same species, size and 
number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality.
 

11 The development shall not be brought into use until the visibility splays have 
been provided in accordance with plans to be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) and thereafter nothing over 0.6m in height 
above the level of the carriageway shall be permitted to remain within the 
visibility splay unless agreed in advance with the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
 

12 The development shall not be brought into use until provision for the turning, 
loading and unloading and the parking of vehicles shall have been made within 
the site in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained for use in connection with the riding stables.
Reason: To make provision for off street parking and manoeuvring for the 
purpose of highway safety.
 

13 Notwithstanding the approved plans, the development shall not be brought into 
use until plans for the site access have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be installed and 
 maintained in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To provide satisfactory access and in the interest of highway safety.

14 The occupation of the mobile home hereby approved shall be limited to a 
person solely employed on the site and to their dependants as long as the site 
is used as an equestrian centre. Reason: The site is within the countryside 
where new dwellings are not normally permitted except where there is a 
justified over riding need. 
 

15 The mobile home hereby permitted must be removed within three months of the 
cessation of the use of the site for the riding stables hereby permitted. Reason: 
The building is permitted in light of the particular circumstances of the case and 
the site is not appropriate for permanent retention of the mobile home without 
the riding stables use. 
 

16 No riding lessons shall take place on the site except between the hours of 8am 
to 7pm (Monday to Friday) and 8am to 5.30pm (Saturday & Sunday) and 
directional lighting for the arena shall only be used within those hours and 
switched off at all other times. 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of nearby properties.
 

17 No hardstanding, structures or buildings shall be located within 4 metres of the 

15



ditch along the sites southern boundary.
Reason: To prevent damage to the watercourse.

18 Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (July 2018), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

__________________________________________________________________

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee because the applicant is the 
daughter of Cllr Boulton who is a member of the Hedge End, West End and Botley 
Local Area Committee. This application site is also owned by Eastleigh Borough 
Council. 

Description of Application

1. The applicant operates a riding school, stables and horse rescue centre from a 
nearby site (Russell’s Equestrian Centre). The applicant has to relocate from their 
current site and is keen to continue operating within the local area and so this site 
has been chosen to replace their existing facility. The proposed site is smaller 
than the existing property and so the facility has been downsized from the current 
operation.  

2. The planning application comprises; the erection of 1.no courtyard building and 
1.no isolation block which accommodates 20 stables in total; 1.no double unit 
mobile home for on-site manager's accommodation, 1.no outdoor arena with 
directional lighting, provision of  7no. on site vehicular parking spaces utilising the 
existing access from Allington Lane.

3. The planning application is supported by:
 Planning, Design and Access Statement by Paris Smith (reference 

PXK.PXK.120179.1.03291266.1)
 Preliminary Ecological Assessment by ECOSA (dated Sep 18)
 Ecological Impact Assessment by ECOSA (dated Nov 18)
 Surface Water Drainage Report by M3 Mayer Brown (dated Nov 18)
 Landscaping Plan by SC Architecture (drawing number 4132-P-4) 
 Lighting Assessment & Strategy by Design for Lighting (dated Nov 18) 

Site Characteristics

4. The application site comprises a tree lined field to the south of Allington Lane with 
some areas of shrub and older trees near the site entrance. The field is relatively 
flat with a noticeable slope to a ditch hidden within the vegetation along the 
Allington Lane boundary. The site is mostly enclosed by mature trees and 
vegetation with a small open section along its southern boundary, opposite the 
site entrance. At this point the edge of the field is marked by low bar fencing. 

16



There is a further ditch that runs alongside the sites southern boundary and 
connects into the local waterways. 

Character of Locality

5. The site is located in a stretch of countryside to the north of West End. The site 
forms part of a collection of gently undulating fields, which are used for grazing 
horses. Opposite the site is the entrance to Itchen Valley Country Park and to the 
north is a row of detached residential properties. There are examples of other 
horse riding stables found within the vicinity, including the applicant’s current site 
at Russell’s Equestrian Centre located to the southwest of this site.

Relevant Planning History

 Application Site - None

 Russell’s Equestrian Centre (current site of the business)
Z/34891 - Construction of stables, barn, exercise school, office, mobile home 
and access road – Permitted 1998

Representations Received

6. The planning application has received 68 letters supporting the development. The 
letters were mainly from people who had attended the current riding school and 
strongly value the experience and expertise given to them by the two riding 
instructors.

7. The supporting letters also included representations from the British Horse 
Society, Riding for the Disabled, Association of British Riding Schools, Riverside 
Equine Vets and the Pony Club. These letters outline the need for a mobile home 
on site; a range of facilities on site; the valuable work the riding school is doing 
with different sectors of the community including disabled and young people; and 
the organisation providing a caring environment for unwanted and abused horses 
to recuperate. A further letter has been received from the National Equine 
Welfare Council, confirming the riding centre is part of their program and benefits 
from regular inspections.  

8. The planning application has received nine letters of objection, mainly from 
Allington Road residents living close to the application site. Their objections 
include; development against planning policy, Highway safety concerns as the 
site access has poor visibility and vehicles travel at high speeds along Allington 
Lane; horses leaving the site causing a safety hazard; additional noise, smells 
and dust causing a disruption to residential properties; directional lighting used in 
arena causing a nuisance to nearby dwellings and distraction to drivers using 
Allington Lane; silica based product used in the arena causing a health hazard; 
questioning why a mobile home is needed on the site; and requesting further 
ecological information to be submitted. Some of the objection letters considered 
that Councillor Bolton should be named on the application form as she is involved 
in running the operation. A further letter complained that only five weeks had 
been given for comments on the planning application.

17



Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received

9. Comments are noted. The proposal will be assessed against the relevant 
planning policies and its impact on highway safety, amenity of residents and 
ecology will be considered in the assessment section. 

10. Under Environmental Regulations employers have to do everything reasonably 
practical to eliminate worker exposure to crystalline silica and this can be 
managed by using medium coarse sand, using watering systems and dust control 
products. The Council’s Environmental Health Specialist has advised proposed 
silica based products are very unlikely to exceed a level that will be harmful to 
human health.

11. The horse riding lessons will take place within the outdoor arena, which is the 
same situation as the current facility at Russell’s Equestrian Centre. As such, 
whilst there maybe occasions that the horses will need to cross Allington Lane it 
will be no greater than the current situation.  

12. Article 15 of the Development Management Procedure Order (as amended) 
requires Local Planning Authorities to undertake a formal 21 day period of 
consultation for planning applications. The planning application followed this 
procedure and adjoining residents along Allington Lane were notified in writing of 
the application. A site notice was also displayed for the duration of the formal 
consultation period. 

13. The planning framework allows any person to apply for planning permission, 
providing the correct notice is served on the landowner. As such there is no legal 
requirement for Councillor Bolton to be the applicant. However, to ensure 
transparency in the decision making process this scheme is placed before the 
local area committee for a decision.

Consultation Responses

14. Environment Agency – No Objection

15. Amended layout plans have been received moving the manager’s 
accommodation 4m away from the edge of the ditch that runs along the southern 
side of the application site. On this basis the Environment Agency has removed 
their objection. 

16. Hampshire Country Council Highways Officer – No Objection (subject to 
conditions on visibility splay, access and turning space)

Access

17. The site will use an existing access off Allington Lane, which is overgrown and 
partially covered. Clearance work will be required to achieve the 4.8m width of 
the access as shown on the plans. It would therefore be requested that a 
condition be imposed to ensure the access is constructed in accordance to 
submitted plans.

18



18. The visibility when entering and exiting the access road is somewhat obscured by 
vegetation to the left and right. A pre-commencement condition is recommended 
to demonstrate that the required visibility splays are achievable at the site 
access. These visibility splays should be set to the specific recorded speeds, with 
appropriate distances set out in line with Manual for Streets or Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges. 

19. Given the site access is overgrown, this is likely to involve some cutting back of 
bushes, etc. and a condition should also be in place to ensure that any 
landscaping within the required visibility splay is kept to a height of no more than 
0.6m in height.

Parking

20. Seven formal parking spaces are provided for onsite and there is opportunity for 
further non-obstructive informal parking to be catered. Furthermore, it may be 
possible for customers to utilise Itchen Valley Country Park for overflow if 
required.

21. The internal layout is acceptable with adequate space to turn vehicles on-site 
(inclusive or larger vehicles associated with equestrian use), which will enable 
serving and forward gear access and egress to take place.

Trip Generation

22. It is the opinion of the Highway Authority that the proposed use is unlikely to 
generate a significant level of traffic or cause severe highway safety issues on 
the surrounding roads. As such, no developer contributions are requested.

Ecology Specialist – No objection

23. The submission includes an Ecological Impact Assessment, Surface Water 
Drainage Plan, Lighting Assessment and Biological Mitigation and Enhancement 
Plan (BEMP). In principle these documents are acceptable, although some 
technical issues have been raised by the Ecology Specialist on the wavelength of 
the proposed lighting, the route of the foul drainage and the proximity of car 
parking spaces 6 and 7 to the over mature oak tree. 

24. The surface water drainage plan will also need to be expanded upon to address 
water quality, which will inform the Council’s to Habitat Regulation Assessment 
(HRA). The HRA will then need Natural England’s approval before a decision can 
be issued. 

25. The Local Planning Authority has now received amended plans, which relocating 
the parking spaces away from the tree. The agent is also reviewing the 
outstanding issues and intends to submit further information to address these 
points. Pre-commencement conditions will be imposed securing a construction 
environmental management plan and sustainable drainage plan.   

19



26. Tree Specialist – No objection (subject to submission of arboricultural reports 
and tree protection) 

27. The principal arboricultural features appear to be retained in the proposals. The 
mature trees to the east are given space from the arena and these will have to be 
protected using appropriate tree protection measures.

28. The siting of the stables is close to the mature vegetation, but this is acceptable 
providing tree protection measures are taken.

29. The proposal will retain the over mature oak tree close to the access point and 
includes the planning of three silver birches to the south of the isolation yard.

30. West End Parish Council – No objection, but raised concerns on Highways 
and Access; Speed of Traffic and Lighting affecting residents

31. Landscaping Specialist – Comments

32. Since the proposed development site is in countryside, the design principles 
should be towards visual mitigation and retaining and enhancing biodiversity 
links.  The landscaping scheme needs to provide more detail and it is 
recommended that a planting plan be submitted as a pre-commencement 
condition. 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Outside Built-up Area Boundary - Countryside

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 Saved Policies: 1.CO, 
18.CO, 25.NC, 36.ES, 45.ES, 59.BE & 154.OS.

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

 Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State on 31 October 2018 
and the Council is awaiting confirmation of the date of examination. The 
adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in summer 2019. Given the status of 
the emerging plan, it is considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.  

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)

20



 Biodiversity (December 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework

33. The National Planning Policy Framework aims to achieve sustainable 
development, which can be separated into three interdependent objectives; 
economic, social and environmental.  

34. Paragraph 11 states that development that accords with an up to date 
development plans should be approved without delay. Where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the most relevant policies are not up to 
date, then planning permission should be granted unless:  

 the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. 

35. For this application relevant paragraphs within the National Planning Policy 
Framework include:

36. Paragraph 79 outlines that planning policies and decisions should avoid the 
development of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more specific 
criteria apply including where there is an essential need for a rural worker, 
including those taking majority control of a farm business, to live permanently at 
or near their place of work in the countryside; 

37. Paragraph 83 explains that planning policies and decisions should enable the 
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both 
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings. It also 
allows the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based 
rural businesses.

38. Paragraph 84 emphases that planning policies and decisions should recognise 
that sites to meet local business and community needs in rural areas may have to 
be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not 
well served by public transport. In these circumstances it will be important to 
ensure that development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an 
unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a 
location more sustainable. 

National Planning Practice Guidance 

39. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration of 
planning applications. 

21



Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

40. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise."
Background Information

41. The application has been put in by the managers of Russell’s Equestrian 
Centre to replace their existing facility. The new site is owned and maintained 
by Eastleigh Borough Council as part of their property portfolio. However, the 
land ownership cannot be considered as part of this planning application. The 
planning application can only be assessed against material planning 
considerations, the starting point being the adopted development plan 
(Eastleigh Local Plan Review 2001-2011). 

Development Plan Policies

42. Saved Policy 1.CO - prevents development within the countryside unless; it is 
necessary for agricultural, forestry or horticultural purposes; it is for an outdoor 
recreational use; it is essential for a public utility or an existing health or 
educational facility; or covered by a specific countryside policy with the existing 
local plan. 

43. Saved Policy 18.CO - looks to refuse development that fails to respect, or has 
an adverse impact on the intrinsic character of the landscape.

44. Saved Policy 25.NC - development which will adversely affect a habitat or 
feature of importance for wild fauna and flora will not be permitted, unless it 
can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Council that: (i) the benefits of 
the development outweigh the adverse impacts; (ii) the adverse impacts are 
unavoidable, and (iii) appropriate measures are taken which would mitigate or 
compensate for any adverse impact.

45. Saved Policy 36.ES - permission will be refused for proposals which do not 
incorporate well designed lighting, where lighting is necessary. Lighting should be 
concentrated in those areas where it is required and spillage, either horizontally 
or vertically, should be minimised. The size and design of the lighting columns 
should not detract from the character of the locality.

46. Saved Policy 45.ES - development proposals must incorporate adequate 
measures for the disposal of surface water from the development including, 

22



where practicable, source control techniques and sustainable drainage systems, 
incorporating defined arrangements for the future maintenance of the system.

47. Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, 
design and siting.  It also requires a high standard of landscape design, have a 
satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and pedestrians, 
make provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on 
neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and 
fumes.

48. Saved 154.OS - allows proposal for commercial stables or riding school where 
a dwelling already exists on the site; where they do not have an adverse 
impact on the character of the locality, and where they do not have a 
detrimental impact on the local road network. 

Principle of development 

49. The application seeks approval for the provision of a riding centre incorporating 
stables, small barns and feed stores, as well as an outdoor arena and adjoining 
isolation block. In addition, the proposals include the provision of a double unit 
mobile home, which would provide staff accommodation in order to allow the 
manager of the facility to live on site. 

50. The site lies within designated countryside within the Council’s adopted Local 
Plan where Saved Policy 1.CO applies to new development proposals. This 
policy seeks to protect the countryside from inappropriate development whilst 
allowing for development needs to be met where a countryside location is 
genuinely necessitated. In this respect, this policy allows for development that is 
for an outdoor recreational use providing that does not require the provision of 
buildings, hardstanding or structures which are of a form, scale or design which 
would demonstrably harm the character of the locality. 

51. Additionally Saved Policy 154.OS deals specifically with equestrian recreational 
development. This policy recognises that new stables and riding schools 
associated with equestrian leisure activities often lead to pressure for additional 
dwellings in the countryside and accordingly permits such development only 
where, in the case of a commercial stable or riding school, a dwelling already 
exists on site. 

52. Therefore, whilst it is accepted that equestrian uses are outdoor recreational uses 
for which a countryside location is generally required, as no dwelling currently 
exists on site, the proposals are in the strictest terms in conflict with the 
provisions of these policies. The provision of a new dwelling on the site would 
also be in conflict with Saved Policy 1.CO as outlined above. The application is 
therefore contrary to the development plan and for planning permission to be 
granted, there would have to be other material considerations that provide 
support for this scheme. 

23



53. One such material consideration is the Revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (July 2018), which recognises that local businesses and community 
needs in rural areas may sometimes be found beyond the built up area 
settlements. In these circumstances it’s important to ensure that development is 
sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local 
roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location more sustainable 
(paragraph 84). 

54. The section below will examine the particular nature of the equestrian use 
proposed and the need for such a facility in this location. The report will then go 
onto assess the detailed matters of the development.  

The need and justification for the development

55. The application seeks approval for the provision of a riding centre with an 
associated manager’s dwelling in the form of a mobile home. The application 
includes a Planning Statement, which provides background information and 
additional detail in support of the proposals. This statement sets out that the 
proposed development is to allow for the relocation of the existing Russell’s 
Equestrian Centre that currently operates from New Place on Allington Lane, a 
site which lies 150m to the south-west of the application site. The relocation of 
the business and facilities is due to the expiration of the lease on the existing 
premises and there being no reasonable prospect of this being renewed. The 
current site incorporates a mobile home, which provides on-site residential 
accommodation for the site manager. 

56. The information provided states that Russell’s Equestrian Centre has operated 
within the local area for 42 years and provides a base for the Epona Trust, a non-
profit making organisation that specialises in the rescue and rehabilitation of 
horses and ponies from difficult and challenging backgrounds. These horses 
often require specialist and dedicated individual care, with such animals being 
referred to the centre from a range of agencies, including the RSPCA, for 
rehabilitation and recovery. The supporting statement sets out that the mobile 
home is, in part, necessitated on site owing to the vulnerable nature of the horses 
for which it caters, with these animals being more prone to getting “cast”, where 
horses have lain down or rolled and manage to become stuck on their backs, 
something which can lead horses to panic, potentially resulting in injury or even 
death. The supporting details set out therefore, that not only is the mobile home 
required for security but a permanent staff presence on site allows for a greater 
level of care to be provided for these horses than would normally be 
necessitated. As with the existing Centre, the linking of the mobile home to the 
facility is something that could be controlled by planning condition.

57. In addition to equine welfare, the centre provides riding facilities and training for a 
wide spectrum of the community incorporating children and adults of all ages, 
levels and abilities, with approximately one third of the Centre’s riders having 
special needs. The Centre also has links and provides services to a range of 
groups within the local area, including community groups and educational 
providers. 

24



58. In these respects, it is evident that the facility is one which is well established and 
highly-regarded in the locality and which provides somewhat of a unique range of 
social benefits to the community in this particular field, as well as positively 
supporting equine welfare. These benefits are evidenced within third party 
representations received in relation to the application, with these including letters 
of support from not only users of the existing Centre but also groups such as the 
Association of British Riding Schools, the Pony Club and the organisation Riding 
for the Disabled Association. The application outlines that there are no alternative 
existing equestrian sites for the facility to relocate to within the locality and that 
the close proximity of the application site would enable them to continue to 
provide this range of services to the local community, which would otherwise be 
lost within this area. It would also from a practical perspective enable the Centre 
to continue to utilise the adjacent fields which they currently use as part of their 
existing operations which run from their current premises. 

59. On balance, therefore, and taking account of the range of factors outlined above, 
it is considered that in this particular instance, the proposed use and structures 
are appropriate and the principle of development, which is contrary to saved 
policy 154.OS, can be supported. Any planning approval, however, is subject to 
the proposals being acceptable in design, scale and layout, as well as in respect 
of its other technical impacts. These matters are dealt with in the sections below. 

Design, Scale and Layout

60. The scale and layout of the development has been designed around the practical 
requirements of running a horse riding school, stables and rescue centre that 
caters for people with a range of complex disabilities and working within the 
planning constraints of the site. 

61. The facility accommodates twenty stables (which is less than provided on the 
current site) and these will be split between the main courtyard building and 
separate isolation block, to prevent the spread of infections from the rescued 
horses. The mobile home is strategically positioned towards the front of the site, 
where the managers have views over the car parking area and into both stable 
blocks so can ensure the security of the facility and horse welfare.

62. The proposal also includes a 20m by 60m outdoor arena, which is required for 
the larger horses, for carrying out specialist training such as join up work and to 
enable both riding instructors to teach at the same time. The horse riding lessons 
will all take place within the arena, with the isolation block to the south providing 
some shade within the summer months. 

63. While the amount of development is substantial, its scale and layout has been 
carefully thought through to enable to the facility to continue operating 
successfully and to work within the constraints of the site. The countryside 
location of the equestrian centre is appropriate and these types of horse riding 
facilities are a common feature of rural areas. 

 

25



Highway Safety and Impact on the Countryside Location

64. The horse riding centre will be accessed off Allington Lane, which is a busy 
40mph road between West End and Fair Oak. Highway safety concerns have 
been raised by some of the nearby residents as the access is over grown and on 
a bend with limited visibility and it was felt vehicles travel along Allington Lane in 
excess of the speed limit. 

65. The proposal will intensify the use of the existing access of Allington Lane, from 
an occasional field access to being in regular daily use from the riding school 
clients.  At present the access is overgrown with limited visibility in either 
direction. However, the Highway Authority are of the opinion that with clearance 
work and the introduction of visibility splays than the access can be made safe for 
the proposed use and they have raised no objection.

66. The agent has commissioned a speed survey of cars traveling along Allington 
Lane to determine the size of the visibility splays required. The speed survey and 
visibility splay plans are being prepared and an update will be provided at the 
Local Area Committee. 

67. In the interim an indicative visibility splay drawing has been provided to indicate 
the likely range of the sight lines required. It is expected that the proposal will 
involve extensive cutting back of the existing vegetation where it has been 
allowed to grow over the highway land next to the sites northern boundary with 
Allington Lane. The vegetation comprises mostly brambles, shrubs and small 
self-seeded trees with moderate ecology value and no important trees.  

68. Most of the clearance work would be by the site access next to the proposed 
parking areas. In this position the vegetation is thicker extending well into the site 
and even with the clearance work will still retain a significant level of visual 
screening. There are also sections within the parking area where existing 
vegetation can be reinforced with further planting.

69. The vegetation is thinner next to the courtyard stable block and some vegetation 
would need to be cut back to provide the visibility splays. As such parts of the 
courtyard stable building will be visible through the thinner parts of the vegetation, 
especially during the winter months. However, the low single storey building will 
be fairly unobtrusive within the street scene and this type of stable building will 
not look out of place within its countryside setting. 

70. Limited clearance work would be needed to the front of the outdoor arena as this 
structure is further away from the access point and should be outside of the 
visibility splays. The outdoor arena and its lighting columns sit below the height of 
the vegetation line and so there should not be significant views of the structure 
from Allington Lane. Furthermore, the outdoor arena is positioned further into the 
site than the courtyard stables and so provides the opportunity for further planting 
to infill any weaknesses in the line of the vegetation along this section of Allington 
Lane. Details of the revised landscaping scheme and a full planting plan will need 
to be approved through a pre-commencement condition and will need to follow 
the Landscaping Officers advice. 

26



71. Indicative visibility splays have also been provided for the western side of the 
access, which due to the increasingly sharp curve could require the loss of a very 
extensive amount of vegetation. However, it is the applicant’s intention that 
vehicles leaving the site will only turn left, with vehicles wanting to travel in an 
eastwards direction using the roundabout further along Allington Lane. 
Engineering solutions will be explored for the left only turn, although it may be 
down to the site managers to enforce this rule which is already in place at their 
current site at Russell’s Equestrian which also sits on a particularly sharp bend.  
With a left hand only turn the thick vegetation to the west can be retained and so 
continue to contribute to the semi-rural character of the lane.

Car Parking and Vehicle Movements

72. Seven car parking spaces are provided within the site, which is considered 
sufficient for the size of the riding centre. There is also the option of more 
informal parking within the site on the rare occasions that more spaces are 
required. Furthermore, there is sufficient space within the parking area for 
vehicles, including larger vehicles towing horse boxes to manoeuvre within the 
site and therefore leave and enter onto Allington Lane in a forward gear.  

73. Overall due to the relatively low traffic flows associated with the development 
proposals, and the staggered position of the access compared to Itchen Valley 
Country Park it is not anticipated that conflict of movement will generate a 
significant road safety issue. No objection has been raised by the Highway 
Authority on this issue.

Residential Amenity

74. To the north of the site is a row of residential dwellings. However, the proposal is 
a reasonable distance away from these dwellings and they sit behind a line of 
vegetation.  As such the proposed single storey buildings and structures are not 
considered to unacceptably harm the outlook of the Allington Lane dwellings. 

75. Third party letters have been received from some of the nearby residents 
concerned about the noise and disturbance caused by the new equestrian centre 
and the use of directional lighting within the outdoor arena.

76. However, the equestrian centre is not a particularly noisy use with the main 
activities and horse riding lessons being throughout the day and early evening 
when background noise levels are natural higher and less likely to disturb nearby 
residents. A condition will be used to ensure that riding lessons finish by 5.30pm 
during the week and 7pm at weekends. 

77. For evening lessons during the winter time it is necessary to light the outdoor 
arena, which will consist of eight directional lights mounted on 4m high poles at 
regular intervals along the edge of the arena. The lights will be installed with a 
low angle of tilt, which focusses most of the light onto the arena. 

27



78. The site is within a rural location where the institute of lighting professionals 
recommends a maximum lighting level of 5 lux pre curfew, which is usually 11pm.   
A lighting survey has been submitted demonstrating that the light spill values at 
ground level are very low (close to 0.17 lux) and mainly contained within the 
outdoor arena. As such the level of the proposed lighting will not unacceptably 
disturb the adjoining residents and not materially impact on the rural character of 
the area, which already has some street lights providing a level of background 
lighting.

Trees and Ecology

79. The site contains a couple of mature oak trees alongside its eastern boundary, 
which are the only high quality trees within site and immediate surrounding of 
significant amenity value within the site. The outdoor arena has been carefully 
positioned so that it does not harm the tree roots. The Council’s tree officer has 
raised no objection to the proposal subject to the submission of arboricultural 
reports and tree protection being in place during the development period.  

80. In terms of ecology a lighting assessment, ecological impact assessment and 
biological mitigation and enhancement plan have been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. The ecological impact assessment looks at the impact of the 
proposal on protected species and the biological mitigation and enhancement 
plan describes how these habitats will be managed for biodiversity and how they 
link into the wider ecological network. These reports have been reviewed and 
acceptable by the Council’s Ecology Officer, with some additional information 
required. An amended site plan has been received moving the two car parking 
spaces away from the old oak tree, which is being retained for its biodiversity 
value as it provides a habitat for a number of species. 

81. The site comprises semi-improved grassland bounded by a mixed hedgerow and 
treeline with a small derelict building in the western corner. The proposal entails 
the removal of the building, some clearance of the semi improved grassland and 
a partial loss of hedgerow particularly along the Allington Lane boundary. This 
loss of habitat is compensated for within the biological mitigation and 
enhancement plan.

82. The site offers suitability for tree-roosting bats and moderate suitability for 
foraging and commuting bats. A reasonable level of vegetation is to be retained 
and a sensitive lighting system installed to reduce the impact to foraging and 
community bats. Full details of the lighting system are provided within the 
submitted lighting assessment, which uses directional lighting to minimise light 
spill into the vegetation. In order to avoid disturbance to bats, the lighting 
specification is as far away from the blue end of the spectrum as possible while 
within the acceptable range for horses.

83. The site offers suitable habitat for hazel dormice, and nesting birds, while field 
margins are suitable for badgers, small numbers of overwintering birds, great 
crested newts and hedgehogs. No common reptiles were recorded within the 
surveys. Some long term habitat would occur with further vegetation lost to 
provide the necessary visibility splays and a view will be sought from the Ecology 

28



Officer to the extent of this impact and whether this can be mitigated for within the 
Biological Mitigation and Enhancement Plan. This includes creating extra habitats 
and features within the site, e.g. scrub, woodland, hedgerow strengthening, 
wildflower / unimproved grassland areas and species specifications. An update 
will be provided at the Local Area Committee.

84. Due to the time constraints, at this stage the application will have to assume the 
presence of great crested newts within the nearby ponds and therefore that the 
site provides possible terrestrial habitat around the existing field margins. 
Appropriate mitigation is included within the Biological Mitigation and 
Enhancement Plan, which includes a translocation exercise. 

85. A pre-commencement condition will also be imposed for a construction 
environmental management plan (CEMP) to ensure the surrounding habitats are 
protected during the construction works. Condition 10 sets out the details of what 
has to be included within the CEMP.

Drainage and Water Courses

86. The on-site manager’s accommodation has been moved 4m into the site, where it 
will not affect the integrity of the ditch running along the southern side of the site 
that feeds into the main water courses. As such the Environment Agency has 
removed their objection to the proposal. 

87. The proposal makes provision for drainage. The majority of the surfacing 
proposed is permeable, which is favourable as this is more likely to maintain the 
existing hydrological regime regarding flows and water quality although water 
quality will still need to be addressed within a revised drainage statement. 

88. While it is understood that manure will be removed from the site, it is essential 
that any run-off from this does not have any negative impact on the retained or 
enhanced habitats on and off site. The run-off from the stables and arena is likely 
to be high in nutrients and Sustainable Drainage (SUDs) details would need to be 
provided as a pre-commencement condition to ensure that the any effects of 
nutrient enrichment do not extend beyond the soakaway. The soakaway 
proposals may be modified to provide suitable natural treatment of the run-off (a 
more robust SuDS feature), for example, by provided appropriate planning which 
will also provide ecological habitat. 

Conclusion

89. As set out within the report there is considered to be over riding material 
considerations to warrant approving the principle of the development, including 
the provision of a mobile home. The development would alter the appearance of 
the site and would require some removal of vegetation, but the structures and 
use are suitable for a countryside location and would not detrimentally impact on 
the character of Allington Lane or residential amenity. The proposal uses an 
established access, but its use will be intensified and whilst the Highway 
Authority have raised no objection to the development, further work is being 

29



undertaken to establish the sight lines and the resultant impact on existing 
vegetation.

90. Prior to committee, officers expect to have been provided with a highway 
technical note informed by a speed survey and will have discussed the impact of 
any future loss of vegetation with the Council’s Ecology Specialist. Subject to a 
positive response and clarity on the highway matters, the proposal is 
recommended for approval with conditions as listed.  
 

30



31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Ageas Bowl Review 2018
	8 Planning Application - Land Adjacent to Russell's Equestrian Centre (including Lot C, Itchen Valley Country Park), West End, Southampton

